
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 8 March 2021.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

Tuesday, 16 March 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual Meeting - This meeting is being held remotely using 

Skype for Businesss 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 

Agenda 

 Accessing the Meeting 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Cabinet - 16 March 2021 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/T7G7JC3S?sl=1
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 
Minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2021. 

(Pages 3 - 7) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests (if any)  

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
4.   Procurement of Improvement Works to HRA Properties 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. 
(Pages 9 - 15) 

   
5.   Procurement of Electrical Works 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. 
(Pages 17 - 23) 

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 

 
6.   Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. 
(Pages 25 - 60) 

   
 Items for information 

 
7.   Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
 

   
8.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 

Report from the Leader of the Council.  
 

   
9.   Representations and questions from Non-Cabinet Members  

   
10.   Cabinet Forward Plan 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2022 

Report from the Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 61 - 66) 

   
 Exempt Items 

Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public may be excluded 

from the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds that if they were to be present, 

exempt information could be disclosed to them as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Schedule 

12A of the Act. 

 
11.   Acquisition of Land in South Kesteven 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations.  
(Pages 67 - 118) 

   
 Urgent Items 

Items which the Leader is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency 

pursuant to Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 by reason of special 

circumstances.  

 



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 2 March 2021 
 
Meeting held virtually by Skype 

 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Ray Wootten (none) 
 
Officers 
 

 

Chief Executive (Karen Bradford) 
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery (Ken Lyon) 
Interim Director of Finance/Section 151 Officer (Richard Wyles) 
Strategic Director Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith) 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing (Chris Stratford) 
Director of Law and Governance (Shahin Ismail) 
Acting Principal Democratic Officer (Shelley Thirkell) 
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor) 
 
65. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
All Cabinet Members were present. 
 
The Leader referred to the Budget for 2021/22 which had been approved by Council 
on 1 March 2021.  He thanked all the Cabinet Members for their contribution to the 
Budget and also the support from the Corporate Leadership Team and the Section 
151 Officer. 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

66. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
None disclosed. 
 
67. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 2 February 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 
68. Procurement of New Build Works 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented the report which sought 
approval to award a contract to carry out works on the development of 12 Council 
properties using the Blue Skies Consortium Framework. 
 
The development proposal was the first scheme from the revised new build 
programme for new Council house provision.  The two sites were at Bourne and 
Stamford and were former Council owned garage sites and would provide facilities 
for those in housing need.  The new builds would contain specialist facilities such as 
wet rooms, alarms and wider doorway access points and would be exempt from the 
Right to Buy regulations.  It was noted that the sites did present additional abnormal 
costs as outlined in the report. 
 
Consideration had been given to housing needs and this had been achieved through 
the Strategic Housing Market Needs assessment data, local housing need 
assessments and the current waiting list priorities for the two areas.  
 
The timing of the report and the Cabinet’s decision was critical to enable the one for 
one receipts to fund the scheme.   The build contract was anticipated to be 12 
months subject to pre contract processes being complete by April 2021. 
 
The Leader stated that meeting the housing needs of residents was one of the key 
priorities contained within the Councils Corporate Plan for both the public and private 
sector and stated that the proposed contractor was an exceptional local contractor. 
 
Other Cabinet Members supported the proposal for the housing which was needed 
within the district. 
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 
To approve the award of a contract to D Brown Building Limited for carrying out the 
development of 12 Council properties, using the Blue Skies Consortium Framework 
with a maximum contract value of £1,820,000 to allow works to start no later than 
April 2021. 
 
69. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council and the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees 
 
The Leader referred to a recommendation that had been submitted from the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee following the meeting held on 26 

4



 

 

January 2021.  The recommendation asked Cabinet to investigate the breakdown of 
costs and benefit for each Council office facility for the provision of secure bike 
storage, including shower facilities and pool cycle opportunities. 
 
The Leader was happy to support the recommendation and this was seconded by the 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations.  However, the Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations did urge caution in respect of the timing of the work due 
to work currently being undertaken due to the pandemic.  
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 
To investigate the breakdown of costs and benefit for each Council Office facility to 
provide secure bike storage, including shower facilities, and to include pool cycle 
opportunities at the main Council Offices. 
 
70. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report on Key and Non-Key decisions taken 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet.  One Non-Key decision had been taken in 
relation to the lease of the ground floor unit, Sheep Market, Stamford, which had 
been taken on 15 February 2021. 
 
71. Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members 
 
A Non-Cabinet Member referred to a question which he asked the Leader at the last 
Cabinet meeting to which the Leader at the time did not respond to. The Non-Cabinet 
Member had submitted a Freedom of Information (FOI) request and had, had to wait 
4 weeks for a response.  He asked if the protocol for asking questions had changed. 
 
The Leader replied that at the time the question was asked he did not have the 
information available to respond to the Member.  The FOI request had been 
completed within the timescale allocated.  He stated that any Non-Cabinet Member 
could ask a question at a Cabinet meeting, this had not changed.  He stated that 
notification of a question before a Cabinet meeting could help with a more 
comprehensive response.  It was noted that not all questions could be answered at 
the time they were asked. 
 
A Non-Cabinet Member who had lost connection at the recent Council meeting (1 
March 2021), congratulated the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and the 
Leader for their work on the budget.  He also made reference to the fact that the 
Council Tax was the second lowest in the County. 
 
The Leader thanked the Non-Cabinet Member and referred to the 8,000+ residents 
who had accessed the hardship fund.   
 
72. Cabinet Forward Plan 16 March 2021 to 15 March 2022 
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan for the period 16 March 2021 to 15 March 2022. 
 

5



 

 

73. Unveiling of the Statute of the Late Baroness Thatcher 
 
The Leader stated that following the decision made by Cabinet at the meeting on 1 
December 2021 to underwrite the cost of the unveiling of the Baroness Thatcher 
Statue up to £100,000 from the Local Priorities Reserve.   He could confirm that due 
to ongoing delays in respect of the unveiling date and as a result of the ongoing 
Covid-19 restrictions, he had confidence that all the funds for the event would now be 
raised through donations.  He therefore confirmed that there would be no 
requirement for any forward funding or the use of the Local Priorities Reserve 
allocation of £100,000.  He proposed that the budget be updated accordingly to 
reflect this.  The proposal was seconded. 
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 
That there will no longer be a requirement to set aside funding from the Local 
Priorities Reserve in the sum of £100,000 to forward fund or underwrite the costs in 
respect of the unveiling of the Baroness Thatcher Statue event and the forecast 
movements from the Local Priorities Reserve as presented to Council on 1 March 
2021 be updated accordingly. 
 
74. Strategic Partnership Housing Capital Investment 
 
This item was dealt with under Special Urgency Provisions due to the need to get the 
contracts in place as soon as possible. 
 
The Monitoring Officer clarified the position in relation to the report and confirmed 
that it was not exempt. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning presented the report which 
concerned a new initiative to enhance and support resource limitations within the 
Housing Technical Support Section to deliver critical housing capital works.   
 
These works included key housing compliance activities, the first three elements 
were: 
 

 Fire risk assessment works. 

 Interim gas contract work arrangements. 

 The window and door programme. 
 
The initial proposal would be for a 12 month pilot partnership with a detailed review 
on outputs and quality of service being reported to the Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with the potential to look at a longer term 
partnership.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning then detailed the rates of work which 
included project management work and the fees payable with a maximum cap of 
£50,000.   The combined process of procurement and project management was to 
reduce time for project works overall. 
 

6



 

 

The initiative would contribute to reducing risks of not delivering the housing capital 
works programme. The necessary due diligence would be undertaken accordingly in 
respect of the Company which was wholly owned by Kent County Council. 
 
A Cabinet Member queried the route being taken in respect of the initiative to which 
the Chief Executive replied and confirmed that it had been checked thoroughly by the 
Monitoring Officer in respect of the Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules.  
Advice had also be sought from Legal Services Lincolnshire. 
 
On being put to the vote, it was AGREED: 
 

1. That Cabinet approves three contracts to be placed with GEN2 for the 
following works: 

 
i. Procurement and project management specialist support for the 

implementation of the Fire Risk Assessments works up to a value of 
£7,000. 

ii. Procurement and project management specialist support for the renewal 
of the Gas contract up to a value of £20,000. 

iii. Procurement and project management specialist support for the Windows 
and Doors capital programme up to a value of £22,000. 
 

2. That Cabinet delegates approval to enter into the contracts to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning, 
the Monitoring Officer and the s151 Officer. 

 
75. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 14:34pm. 
 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 March 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Refurbishment/Structural Repair Works 

Award of Contract for extensive refurbishment, structural, and conversion works. 
 
 

 

 

Report Author 

Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director for Housing  

Tel: 01476 406080 

Email: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 8 March 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  8 March 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

8 March 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That Cabinet approves UK Gas Services Ltd (Building Services Division as the 
preferred contractor under the Efficiency East Midlands Framework) for the 
property improvement lot 3, at a total cost of £500,000 over the full five year term of 
the contract for the refurbishment/structural works to Council owned properties.  

 

 

9

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has an ongoing requirement to carry out significant repair, dilapidations and 

structural improvement works to certain dwellings across the district to ensure our properties 

meet the needs of our tenants and comply with the Homes Standard and any ongoing 

statutory and compliant requirements.  

1.2 To achieve the above, there is a requirement for ongoing construction contracts with 

numerous contractors. The request before Cabinet is in respect of the contract to 

refurbish/and carryout structural repairs certain homes requiring such works following an 

appropriate structural engineers or surveyors report.  

1.3 The budget assumptions for all such works are included within the current 30-year HRA 

Business Plan. Members will however be aware that the plan will be reviewed following the 

findings of the stock condition survey which is due to be completed by October 2021. 

1.4 The current contract for carrying out refurbishment/structural works has now ended, and a 

new contract is required to enable critical and necessary works to continue into the 21/22 

financial year and beyond. These works are covered in detail and included within the scope 

of the contract and now before Cabinet to approve.   

1.5 With this in mind and to ensure value for money (VFM) and quality vetted contractors it 

was concluded that the contract be procured through an Efficiency East Midlands 

Framework agreement (EEM) in accordance with the South Kesteven District Council 

Contract Procurement Regulations and which is compliant with relevant procurement 

legislation. 

1.6 All contracts are procured to ensure the Council meets its statutory responsibilities, 

compliant requirements, achieves high levels of customer satisfaction and, as indicated in 

1.5 above, achieves value for money. 

1.7 The works to be carried out under the contract typically will include the following: 

 Structural works to include underpinning, lintel replacement, wall stitching, plastering 

etc. 

 Refurbishment works where necessary to include the construction of extensions or 

further conversion works, to meet an identified housing need as analysed by way of 

information contained from the Housing Register, and if necessary other needs data.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 All works which are undertaken especially where tenants are to continue in occupation, in 

accordance with the contract specifications and with the necessary customer care 

requirements and needs in mind. There is a specific requirement to fully consult with 

tenants especially around the detailed scope and nature of the works to be undertaken, 

and this will also include agreed timelines for the completion of works and agreed key 

performance indicators (KPI’s) to monitor progress and tenant satisfaction against the 

project plan or works schedule. 

2.2 Where the extent of works require the temporary decanting of tenants to other 

accommodation, these arrangements will be explained and agreed with the tenants, so 

that they are not unduly disturbed by the works through remaining in the property whilst 

structural or refurbishment takes place. In such circumstances the Council will meet the 

necessary costs of providing temporary accommodation as required. Given that during 

any one year very few if any such moves are required these additional costs are met form 

10



 

 
 

the overall approved housing budget provisions. It is currently expected that during the 

21/22 three homes will require structural works to be completed, and these will be planned 

and managed accordingly and subject of this report by Cabinet.  

2.3 Where works go onto include kitchen and bathroom replacements these will be carried out 

following full tenant consultation including the presentation of schematic visual drawing via 

an I/T portable presentations, and with the opportunity for tenants to choose the type of 

flooring finish, including colours of worktops and units etc.  

2.4 Any works that require planning approval will follow the necessary consultation period as 

defined by planning legislation and local planning requirements. Again, tenants will be 

advised of any planning obligations associated with these more extensive works, and of 

course always kept informed of progress.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Do nothing – This option was discounted as there is a need to ensure that the Council 

has the capability of delivering specific structural and refurbishment works to certain 

council properties. Any works completed should be achieved in the most efficient and 

effective manner having regard to the necessary technical reports, so as to minimise any 

rent loss where the property is void, or to minimise disruption to the tenants where they 

remain in situ. To do nothing would not secure the necessary new contract and these 

essential structural and refurbishment works would not be possible. This would impact 

significantly on the efficient and effective use of the Councils stock and increase the 

overall monitoring and maintenance costs and liabilities - as properties are not improved 

and repaired when necessary and in accordance with structural engineers or surveyor 

technical reports. 

3.2 Use alternative tender and procurement options – Consideration was given to using 

traditional tendering of these works, however due to the likely costs and inevitable 

complexity of works associated with structural repairs, an OJEU compliant framework was 

considered the best option.  The rationale for this is strengthened as there is a need to 

procure quickly and efficiently given the current contract for refurbishment/structural works 

has already lapsed, and therefore such works are currently not taking place. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The contractors on the Efficiency East Midlands (EEM) Framework were assessed using 

price and quality. There were 8 contractors available within Lot 3 Property Repairs and 

Improvements Works over £500,000 covering the Midlands region. Scoring by EEM showed 

UK Gas Services Ltd to be the second highest scoring contractor for these works, based on 

cost and quality. Early engagement with UK Gas Services Ltd has confirmed they are able 

to enter a contract with the Council, and that they are able to start works as soon as possible 

after the approval of Cabinet.  

4.2 In this case however members should be aware that the highest scoring contractor for these 

works was not UK Gas services Ltd.  However, when the highest scoring contractor was 

provisionally offered the contract the contractor declined the award because they were 

heavily committed on other projects.  Therefore Officers have determined that as the second 

tenderer UK Gas services be invited to accept the award, which they confirmed they would. 

The price, quality, and broader assessment concluded that the two highest scoring 

contractors were extremely close, with only three points around price and quality separating 

the two. Officers do not believe this confirmed difference following the process of analysis 

11



 

 
 

represents a significant difference when concluding the overall assessment and final 

decision making process. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Utilising framework in respect of refurbishment and structural works ensures that contractors 

have been pre-assessed on both price and quality of work. The Council has selected the 

most economically advantageous contractor taking account of the decision by the initially 

preferred contractor to decline the offer of the award of contract and the contractor 

subsequently offered the opportunity to secure the award, is available to start works within 

the required timeline and is capable of delivering the specific work requirements. 

5.2 The selected contractor will allow the Council to conduct refurbishment and structural 

works projects as they arise and in accordance with the necessary engineering or 

surveying advice. The works meet a core objective of the Corporate plan in providing high 

quality homes and services to those who rent property from the council. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The contractors have been contacted and given all the information required regarding the 

contract and have confirmed the willingness to proceed, subject to final Cabinet approval. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The annual budget for Structural Works is currently £100,000 with a total for the contract 

period of approximately £500,000. However it should be noted that these are revenue works 

and specific costs will be confirmed on a scheme by scheme basis.  These costs will depend 

on the engineers or surveyors report findings and are therefore not easy to predict. Likewise 

any property refurbishment and remodelling works are determined on a case by case basis. 

The predicted costs have been accounted for in the current forward plan for housing 

investment, but this may be subject to change following the outputs from the stock condition 

survey. The estimated contract spend therefore is based on an average previous spend 

basis and there is no guarantee to the contractor regarding the amount of works or 

instruction values from Council year on year. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Contract has been let under a framework arrangement, which is in accordance with 

the Council’s Contract Procurement and Procedure Rules and the Public Contract 

Regulations 2015. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The nature of the works is to assist our tenants in providing safe and compliant homes in 

accordance with the necessary requirements of the Homes Standard. The necessary 

equality and safeguarding matters will be considered prior to contract works commencing 

in each case and agreed with those involved in delivering the repairs required. 

9.2 Approximately 99% of the EEM Services supply chain is made up of SME businesses. All 

contractors agree to adhere to our contractor’s code of conduct which covers Equalities. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

12



 

 
 

10.1 Failure to carry out these works will be detrimental to both our Tenants and Council 

property assets. There would also be financial implications due to increased repair and 

monitoring costs. 

10.2 Poor contractor performance – mitigated by adequately resourced contract management 

including regular contractor meetings, supervision of works, adherence to contract terms. 

10.3 Lack of need/demand for services – mitigated by there being no guaranteed spend and 

property numbers in any of the contracts 

10.4 Contractor unable to fulfil all works – mitigated by contract provisions. It should also be 

noted that the contracts are awarded on a non-exclusive basis and ultimately there is the 

option to terminate and re-procure the contract if necessary 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 A failure to repair our properties could be detrimental to the neighbourhoods and lead to a 

lack of pride leading to vandalism, this is especially so in respect of structural defects 

impacting on Council properties.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1.1 Using SME businesses through a local framework ensures that materials and trades are 

sourced as locally as possible minimising the carbon output of the conversion and 

refurbishment process. 

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix 1 – Exempt Tender results - Exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972 as it contains information relating to the financial or business 

affairs of a particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

1 February 2021 

Final Decision date   16 March 2021 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

15

Appendix 1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 March 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Procurement of Electrical Works 

This report seeks approval for the award of Electrical Works Contract including Electrical Testing, 
Electrical Rewires, and Smoke Detection Upgrades. 

 

 

Report Author 

Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director for Housing 

Tel: 01476 406080 

Email: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance   8 March 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  8 March 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

8 March 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Cabinet is asked to approve the awarding of a contract to UK Gas Services Ltd in order to 
undertake electrical and smoke alarm testing including remedial and rewiring works for a 
two year period (with a potential 1+1+1 year extension) for a maximum total value of 
£3.050m. 

 

 

 

 

17

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has an ongoing requirement to carry out significant repairs, dilapidations, and 

improvement works to its dwellings across the district, to ensure our properties meet the 

needs of our tenants and comply with the current Homes Standard along with any ongoing 

Statutory or compliant needs.  

1.2 To achieve these objectives, but specifically the electrical inspection and allied works 

programme there is a requirement for a new electrical procurement process to be 

concluded, and a new contract put in place as a matter of urgency. 

1.3 The electrical and works budgets etc, are reviewed annually by Council, and whilst they are 

also included within the forward plan for housing investment purposes, and the current 30-

year HRA Business Plan, members are reminded that this Plan and indeed forward priorities 

for investment may change significantly, after the outputs of the current stock condition 

survey are more properly understood. The initial contract for electrical works is therefore 

subject to an initial contract period of just two years, with the flexibility to extend to take 

account of the stock condition survey findings for a total contact period of up to 5 years.   

1.4 Further in respect of the contracts for carrying out Electrical Remedial and Rewiring Works, 

Electrical Testing and upgrades of safety alarms, it is worth noting that these contract 

arrangements have formally ended, and to continue to make progress with compliance 

activity it is essential that the new contract arrangements are approved, so the Council can 

demonstrate to the Regulator our intention to commence work as a priority, and complete 

electrical certification inspections and other works and move swiftly towards compliance.  

1.5 Officers have been mindful of the need to select a contractor with an established track 

record of quality work, and one which demonstrates the ability to deliver contracts of scale 

on time and within budget limits. The process has therefore been informed by selecting an 

appropriate contractor Framework arrangement, where these issues of quality and 

resilience can be tested as part of the selection process. Clearly the contractor must also 

pass the test of accreditation for completing specialist electrical testing and subsequent 

works, to allow for compliant certification of the Council stock to be confirmed.  

1.6 Therefore, the contract is procured through an Efficiency East Midlands Framework 

agreement (EEM) in accordance with the SKDC Contract Procurement Regulations and is 

compliant with relevant procurement legislation. All such contracts are procured to ensure 

the Council can fully meet its statutory and compliance responsibilities, and allows for 

achieving high levels of tenant satisfaction, and finally demonstrates value for money. 

1.7 All the contracts have been assessed in terms of value for money, financial status and 

performance under the framework’s competition process carried out under the OJEU 

procurement rules and procedures. Officers are confident the procurement process meets 

all the necessary procurement requirements and financial regulations of the Council. 

Member can refer to Appendix 1 the assessment outputs for reference purposes. 

1.8 The works to be carried out therefore, under the Electrical Works contract will typically 

include the following: 

 Electrical Testing – Under current guidance, and a requirement of the Regulator the 

Council should be testing all its Council owned properties every 5 years to achieve full 

certification to be confirmed.  

18



 

 
 

 Electrical remedial work – Included in the testing programme will be the necessary 

remedial upgrade works such as any new USB sockets, upgraded consumer units etc. 

Full rewires will also be completed where required following the full electrical test. 

 Testing and upgrading smoke alarms – All properties on the electrical testing 

programme will also have the safety alarms serviced repaired or replaced as required 

to meet current regulatory requirements. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 All works are carried out in accordance with the contract specifications. Whilst all the 

works within the scope of this contract are necessary all tenants are to be consulted in 

advance of any activities taking place so that they are aware of the potential scope and 

nature of any works, which may be required following any initial testing, which would be 

completed first. Clearly every effort will then be made to ensure the works are then 

completed with specific customer needs in mind, and which best suits the specific tenant 

needs. The contractor has been advised of the need to carefully consider works activity 

with this requirement in mind, to ensure maximum customer acceptance and satisfaction. 

The contract will ensure these requirements are project managed carefully with a set of 

agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) put in place to monitor outcomes and 

satisfaction levels. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Do nothing – this option was discounted as there is a contractual obligation under the 

tenancy agreement to ensure properties are maintained in accordance with the Homes 

Standard. There is also a strict compliance requirement as confirmed by the Regulator to 

ensure appropriate electrical testing and certification takes place every 5 years. There has 

been as members know a failure in this respect previously, and therefore forms part of our 

non-compliance position at present. The do-nothing option would only allow this position to 

continue, and given we are now subject to the Regulators scrutiny at this time, the do- 

nothing option is not tenable.    

3.2 Use alternative tender and procurement options – Consideration was given to using 

traditional tendering of these works, however due to the costs, and complexity of the 

works and specification an OJEU compliant framework was considered the best option. It 

should also be appreciated that the necessary timeline to complete procurement is a 

material consideration in this case. We have a significant number of properties which do 

not have current electrical compliant certification, and this needs to be rectified by way of a 

new contract with a contractor able to inspect and complete works at scale as soon as 

practically possible. The options appraisal demonstrates that the most efficient and best 

value for money approach to procuring the works including taking account of timeline 

issues, was via the framework outlined in this report. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The contractors on the Efficiency East Midlands (EEM) Framework were assessed using 

predominantly price and quality assessments. There are 8 contractors available within Lot 

1 Planned Domestic Property Improvements which includes electrical inspection and 

works over £1,000,000 covering the Midlands region. These are ranked considering price 

and quality as indicated above. Following a further mini tender to test value for money 

(VFM) and to include electrical testing requirements, the chosen contractor from this lot is 

UK Gas Services Ltd of 13 Leicester Road, Groby, Leicestershire, LE6 0DQ.   

19



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 UK Gas Services Ltd was identified as providing the best value for money when a price 

and quality comparison was completed with other contractors on the Framework and also 

taking account of the company’s ability to deploy the necessary resources to conclude the 

inspection requirements of the Council. If approved the works meet a core objective of the 

Corporate Plan in providing high quality homes and services to those who rent property 

from the council and will be a significant step towards meeting the Homes Standard. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The contractors have been contacted and given the necessary information relating to the 

contract and have confirmed a willingness to proceed as soon as practically possible 

subject to final Cabinet approval. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The works contained within the contract are a combination of both revenue and capital 

activities and these are to be funded from within originally approved 20/21 HRA Specified 

works budget heading. Given that the contract approval proposal is being considered at 

almost the end of the 20/21 financial year it is therefore anticipated that it will be 

necessary for the remaining revenue budgets to be considered to be carried forward into  

the 21/22 financial year to enable the works to be completed.  

7.2 The Electrical Testing, Electrical Remedial works, and alarm detector works are revenue 

budgeted works. The budget spend of £750,000 for the first year of the contract can only 

be met by the necessary slippage being agreed, after this initial testing and works 

programme, for all properties, the ongoing budget requirement will be a further £150,000 

per year. The Electrical Rewire works are capital budgeted works of £340,000 per year for 

the duration of the contract. The budget and contract arrangements are sufficient to cover 

the 5-year contract period possible under the contract arrangements, and approval 

requested, and which therefore has a total value of £3.050m. Any adjustments to the full 

requirement over 5 years will be reviewed after the first two years of the contract, to take 

account as stated above the stock condition survey findings. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The procurement for this contract has been carried out in accordance with the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 and therefore is compliant with the necessary procurement 

requirements. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Most of the Electrical Remedial and Rewiring works are essentially a replacement and 

upgrade of the existing electrics. The initial consultation Issues relating to potential 

Equality and Safeguarding matters will be reviewed and considered with the Contractor 

prior to the commencement of works. This is especially so in terms of ensuring contractor 

staff carry appropriate identification prior to entering tenant homes, and where specific and 

specialist issues of Safeguarding are of concern or where possible equality challenges 

arise in respect of particular tenant circumstances, these will be considered carefully by 

appropriate Council officers, before an agreed plan or process is agreed with the tenant 

20



 

 
 

and contractor. All contractors agree to adhere to our contractor’s code of conduct which 

covers Equalities. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 If a property hasn’t been rewired in the last 25-30 years, it will need upgrading, whether 

partially or fully, to ensure it complies with current safety standards. Given the volume of 

electrical devices used in modern households compared to the 1980s and 90s, the 

existing wiring might be under strain from higher a level electricity demand, and therefore 

it is essential modern wiring and appropriate certification has been secured in each case. 

These works and the contract are designed to achieve this and safeguard tenants 

accordingly. 

10.2 Failure to carry out these works will be detrimental to both our tenants and our property 

assets and would allow our current non-compliance status in respect of electrical 

inspections and certification to continue. There would also be financial implications due to 

increased repair costs. 

10.3 Poor contractor performance – mitigated by adequate, resourced contract management 

including regular contractor meetings, supervision of works, adherence to contract terms. 

10.4 Lack of need/demand for services – mitigated by no guaranteed spend and property 

numbers in any of the contracts which approval is sought. 

10.5 Contractor unable to fulfil all works – mitigated by contract provisions. Also, non-exclusive 

contracts. Ultimately the option to terminate and re-procure the contract if necessary 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 A failure to repair our properties could be detrimental to the neighbourhoods and in this 

case not deal with urgent noncompliance matters.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Upgrade works under this contract will reduce the amount of repair visits required 

contributing to a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from Council vehicles. 

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix 1 – Mini tender evaluation - Exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972 as it contains information relating to the financial or business 

affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

1 February 2021 

Final Decision date   16 March 2021 

 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

23

Appendix 1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 March 2021 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint 

This report presents the Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint which seeks to provide a 
high-level vision for the provision of a greater range of housing options for those who need additional 
support, and better integrated services to promote and sustain independent living.   
 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Public Protection 

Tel: 01476 406319 

Email: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents  

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director, Housing 4 March 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

4 March 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

4 March 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Endorses the Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint and works with 
partners to support the development of the delivery plan. 

 

25

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) created the Housing Health and 

Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) in 2017 as a subgroup bringing together Lincolnshire 

County Council, the seven District Councils, Registered Providers, local National Health 

Service (NHS) bodies and the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to understand 

and respond to current and future housing needs in Lincolnshire.  

1.2 On 5 March 2019, through a Non Key Decision, the Cabinet Member for Communities 

endorsed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the HHCDG, agreeing to work 

together across housing, health and social care to deliver positive health outcomes and 

support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving health through housing.  The Lincolnshire 

Homes for Independence Blueprint builds on the principles adopted through the MOU and 

will further embed the role housing has to play in achieving health outcomes through a 

holistic approach. 

1.3 Lincolnshire Homes for Independence is the blueprint of the Housing Health Care Delivery 

Group (HHCDG) and seeks to provide a high level vision for the provision of a greater 

range of housing options for those who need additional support, and better integrated 

services to promote and sustain independent living.   

1.4 The HHCDG have worked towards the development of the document which is a high level 

vision and call to action to partners across the housing, health and care sectors to work 

together and strive to secure the best possible range of housing options to meet housing 

and housing related support needs of those in Lincolnshire who need something other 

than mainstream market housing.   

1.5 The Blueprint will be owned by the HHCDG which will provide an annual progress report 

to the HWB. It focuses on;  

• growing the supply of appropriate housing to meet a range of specific housing needs  

• aiming to influence the design, location and number of homes delivered  

• securing better outcomes from existing resources  

• enabling residents to plan ahead to meet their housing needs 

1.6 The audience for the Blueprint is senior managers, board members and Members who 

work across housing, health and care sectors as well as those who may be less familiar 

with the housing and health agenda. The aim is that it can be used for project planning, 

providing evidence and justification in decision making processes as well as focusing the 

efforts of members of the HHCDG on actions to secure greater provision of a wide range 

of housing choices and to further integrate services designed to promote independent 

living and housing for life.  It will support some of the work of the Housing and Property, 

and Growth and Culture Directorates, looking at both the existing housing and services 

and the new build housing design and standards we wish to see across the area. 

1.7 Programmes of work that contribute to meeting the objectives within the Homes for 

Independence Blueprint will be delivered through a delivery plan which is currently under 

development and will set out a number of actions for partners across the housing, health 

and care sectors. Outcomes from these actions might require the council to take individual 

actions through formal decision-making processes. 

26



 

 
 

1.8 The Blueprint at Appendix 1 is a final draft version. The highlighted sections are links to 

documents which will connect within the published version.  The draft delivery plan is at 

Appendix 2.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Homes for Independence Blueprint was endorsed by the HWB on 1 December 2020 

with the recommendation that relevant partners adopt the blueprint through their 

appropriate decision making processes.  

2.2 The Blueprint is not a public facing document so formal consultation has not been 

undertaken. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Blueprint provides a high-level vision for housing in Lincolnshire which provides a 

greater range of options and support for those needing something more than mainstream 

housing.  It is not a statutory document and the council is not required to endorse the 

blueprint.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Blueprint supports the ongoing partnership working of the Housing Health and Care 

Delivery Group. Endorsement of the Blueprint will further embed the role housing has to 

play in achieving health outcomes through a holistic approach. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The HWB have endorsed the Blueprint and recommended that relevant partners adopt the 

blueprint through the appropriate decision-making processes.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The HHCDG will continue to work on the development of the delivery plan.   The Housing 

and Property and Growth and Culture directorates will also feed into this process. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with endorsing the Blueprint, 

however, outcomes from the delivery plan which have financial implications will need to be 

considered individually.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Council has the power to adopt the Blueprint as a sign of its commitment to the vision 

set out in the document. 

8.2 Further actions in pursuit of the Blueprint or its objectives and in support of the delivery 

plan will be subject to future formal decision-making where necessary. 

8.3 The decision to adopt the Blueprint is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the 

remit of the Cabinet. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Legal Services Lincolnshire  

 

27



 

 
 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No equality or safeguarding implications have been identified.  Decisions relating to the 

delivery plan would be subject to individual assessment as appropriate.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks have been identified.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No community safety implications have been identified.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Workstreams associated with the delivery plan may result in improvements to existing 

homes or new housing developments which could lead to carbon reduction due to 

improvements in insulation or heating systems.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Minutes of the Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board, 1 December 2020 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint 

15.2 Appendix 2 – Draft Housing Health and Care Delivery Group Delivery Plan 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Final Decision date   16 March 2021 

 

28

https://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=488&MId=5563&Ver=4


Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

1 
 

 

 

Lincolnshire Homes for Independence 
Blueprint for the Housing Health and Care Delivery Group 

  

Page 2929

Appendix 1



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

2 
 

Contents  

Foreword .............................................................................................................................. 3 

1. Housing, health and care - an introduction  ............................................................. 4 

2. Understanding needs and opportunities ................................................................... 6 

3. Housing for people with care and support needs .................................................. 14 

4. Helping people remain in their current home ......................................................... 18 

5. Helping people move to a suitable home .............................................................. 22 

6. What’s next working together on the vision?........................................................... 26 

Glossary ............................................................................................................................. 27 

Bibliography ...................................................................................................................... 27 

 

 

 

 
 
  

Page 3030



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

3 
 

Foreword 
 
People of whatever age and from whatever background deserve to live in a safe, warm 
home with as much independence as they can achieve, with appropriate and timely support. 
 
Those of us that have come together to create this blueprint for Lincolnshire Homes for 
Independence recognise the multiple benefits to residents and our organisations of having 
the right homes, of good design, in the places where people choose to live their lives. 
 
It is more than having a roof over our heads. Having somewhere that we call 'home' is a 
fundamental requirement for us to maintain good physical and mental health. That is why, 
working in collaboration through our countywide partnerships, we will do more to address the 
shortcomings of current housing and ensure that new homes provide the quality of life that 
people desire. 
 
We look forward to working together to deliver more, high quality, flexible, contemporary 
housing and support for Lincolnshire's residents. 
 

                                                       
 
Cllr Wendy Bowkett     Cllr Sue Woolley 
Chairman      Chairman 
Housing Health and Care Delivery Group  Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 

John Turner 
Chief Executive 
NHS Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group  

Page 3131



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

4 
 

1. Housing, health and care – an introduction 
 

"A job, a safe and warm home and someone to care for and about 
are the foundation of what works for improving health" 
 
Duncan Selbie, Former Chief Executive, Public Health England 
 
 
Introduction 
 
Evidence shows that living in familiar, safe, accessible, warm accommodation that we call 
'home' is more likely to promote mental and physical wellbeing, and to reduce hospital 
admissions, social isolation and loneliness.  
 
Our vision is for people to live independently, stay connected and have greater choice 
in where and how they live. 
 
People need reliable information to make informed choices, and a choice of quality housing 
that is affordable, which meets their needs.  Right-sized, contemporary, well designed and 
equipped homes allow people to live and age well in their current home and/or move to a 
home better suited to their needs.  Where people need support, better integrated housing, 
health and care services can help them live safely and independently in their chosen home.   
 
Lincolnshire Homes for Independence blueprint does not address all aspects of housing but 
does identify those who may need extra help to maintain their wellbeing and independence 
e.g. those with health needs, those moving from a hospital in-patient facility and care leavers 
amongst others. It considers the need to build different types of homes, to use new 
technologies, and to develop new working practices.  It is a call to action for all agencies, 
including businesses and housing developers, to work together to secure the best possible 
homes and services for Lincolnshire's residents, now and in the future. 
 
Lincolnshire's Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) prioritised housing in its Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) recognising its importance to achieving improvement in health 
and wellbeing outcomes. The Housing, Health and Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) set up by 
the Board includes the County Council, the seven District Councils, Registered Providers 
(Housing Associations), local National Health Service (NHS) bodies and the Department of 
Work and Pensions (DWP). 
 
Through this countywide forum we are committed to working together as it is clear that 
housing conditions influence our physical and mental health and wellbeing at all stages of 
our lives. Poor housing is associated with increased levels of stress, anxiety and depression. 
Living in a warm and dry home can improve general health outcomes specifically reduce 
respiratory conditions. The partnership is, therefore, committed to improving health and 
wellbeing through the home.  
 
This blueprint responds directly to the need for a safe and warm home. The objectives set 
within the document and the associated Delivery Plan determine how collectively and 
through the wider support services, independent living and contribution to jobs and social 
contact can be achieved. In doing so it addresses health inequalities which exist, making it 
more difficult for some people to maintain a home than others. The Coronavirus pandemic 
lockdown in early 2020 highlighted these issues where people were asked to remain in 
unsuitable homes for many weeks, with a noticeable decline in their personal wellbeing. 
 

Page 3232



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

5 
 

The blueprint is a high level statement and call to action to partners to identify and strive to 
meet the housing and related support needs of those in Lincolnshire who need something 
other than mainstream market housing. Organisations are buying in to a journey and 
committed to shared ownership of the HHCDG Delivery Plan actions. The HHCDG Delivery 
Plan sets out the detailed actions to achieve the blueprint's objectives. Outcomes from these 
actions might require partners to take things through individual decision-making processes. 
 
The audience for the blueprint in the partner organisations is senior managers and board 
members who are less familiar with the housing and health agenda than those working in the 
field – but who will nevertheless be making commissioning and funding decisions. Those 
working in the field can use it for their project planning and as justification in their decision-
making processes. It aims to focus the efforts of the HHCDG members on actions to secure 
greater provision of a wider range of housing choices, and to further integrate services 
designed to support independent living and housing for life. 

 
  

Page 3333



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

6 
 

2. Understanding needs and opportunities 
 
 
Lincolnshire's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) topics provide a robust evidence base of housing 
issues and need. These are updated regularly, 
 

Housing Standards and 
Unsuitable Homes 

Insecure Homes and 
Homelessness 

 

This considers people who do not have 
the security of a decent home 

 Factors leading to people losing their 
homes 

 Homelessness or the risk of 
becoming homeless  

 Rough sleeping 

This looks at the following and the effect 
on health and care: 

 Poor condition existing homes 

 Cold homes and fuel poverty 

 Unsuitable homes (e.g. overcrowded 
or needing adaptations) 

 Design standards for new homes 

 Demand for supported housing  

 
Lincolnshire's population is diverse and geographically dispersed, requiring a range of 
housing and care provision to meet local needs.  There is a shared understanding of the 
importance of suitable housing to a sense of wellbeing and good health, as noted in the 
Care Act (2014) statutory guidance:   
 
"Housing is ….. a crucial health-related service which is to be integrated with care and 
support and health services to promote the wellbeing of adults and carers and 
improve the quality of services offered." 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3434

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=bSPqwC36&id=62598CE371D510C02DDA59F87886361B5EAA1631&thid=OIP.bSPqwC36PN0Vqd7aFv0eTAHaF1&mediaurl=http://www.fauxstonedepot.com/blog/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/new-house-under-construction-046-1024x807.jpg&exph=807&expw=1024&q=home+under+renovation&simid=608020356693495410&ck=B7F4C18F0B7E6F19DA68748B717858A0&selectedIndex=7&FORM=IRPRST


Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

7 
 

Housing Supply 
 
Greater Lincolnshire1 local authorities are committed to building more homes to meet the 
demand arising from population growth.  Up to 100,000 new homes are estimated to be 
needed by 2031. The Housing Infrastructure Group (HIG), reporting to Lincolnshire's Chief 
Executives, has developed Lincolnshire's Growth Strategy, incorporating the 2050 Vision, 
ensuring appropriate infrastructure to facilitate housing development.   
 
This blueprint complements the Local Industrial Strategy and Growth Plan developed by 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Economic Partnership (GLLEP).  A thriving economy needs 
housing for its workforce; housing, health and care agencies need a skilled workforce; being 
employed helps people have greater housing option choices in the short and long term. 
 
More homes of all types are needed. For example, currently, some people with mental 
health issues or learning difficulties are placed in homes out of the county. However, this 
blueprint emphasises the importance of quality, good design and integration with the 
surroundings to create resilient communities.  
 
Houses need designing to reduce the need for people to move home or for costly 
adaptations to their homes as their needs change over time. Some thoughtful design such 
as considering the location of sockets and the width of doorframes does not have to 
significantly increase build costs but will extend choice and promote independence for more 
people. Building Regulations set a minimum specification covering accessibility for visitors 
with disabilities. Local Plan policies can set space and design standards and higher 
standards for accessibility, including for full wheelchair use and additional design standards 
can be set in supplementary planning documents. Some people will wish to move a smaller 
home when families disperse or they become less able to maintain it. For people who need 
to move to meet a specific complex need, particular design requirements may be negotiable, 
especially with Registered Providers (Housing Associations) but also with private 
developers. 
 
Where people of any age feel vulnerable due to their circumstances (e.g. being at risk 
becoming homeless or having a disability) or their mental or physical health declines or they 
live alone or need additional care and support; a wider range of accommodation is needed 
as a realistic alternative to remaining in unsuitable accommodation or moving to residential 
care, which are currently the only options for many. This accommodation should offer a 
range of tenures with options to purchase (outright or shared ownership) or rent (social and 
private) depending upon people's preference and circumstances.  
 
In the UK, there is an under-provision of retirement 
accommodation compared to other countries. Where 
the private market does not provide it the state may 
need to intervene to deliver or provide financial 
support to the private sector. Councils and Registered 
Providers may build and manage such 
accommodation. In certain cases public money 
(Government and/or local authority funds) could be 
offered to private developers to help meet specific 
needs. 

 
 

Source: Associated Retirement Community Operators, 2019 

                                                           
1 Greater Lincolnshire refers to the local authorities making up the county of Lincolnshire, North East 

Lincolnshire and North Lincolnshire 

Page 3535



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

8 
 

In the UK, there are around 60,000 units for people over 65 with the proportion of the 
population predicted to need this rising to 2.5% by 2030 requiring an additional 250,000 new 
or adapted units. 
 
We will maintain details of and map the location of extra care housing and units of 
accommodation for younger people with health needs in Lincolnshire and make this 
information available. 
 
Greater Lincolnshire's Housing Authorities commissioned research in 2018 to identify 
housing needs of older people. As at September 2019, the net additional demand in 
Lincolnshire is for 2,040 units of housing with care, including extra care housing (Housing 
LIN report, 2018). The outcomes highlighted the need for other affordable options including 
shared ownership. 
 
 

Housing LIN Research in Lincolnshire in 2018 

 

 A shortage of units of housing for older people, and a significant shortage of units 
for sale / shared ownership compared to those for rent 
 

 A shortage of housing with care, both for rent and for sale in most Districts, 
including extra care / ‘assisted living’ schemes with 24/7 care available on-site and 
housing schemes that offer bespoke care services, even if these are not full on-
site 24/7 care, both for rent and for sale 

 

 A significant number of residential care beds and nursing care beds with evidence 
of over-provision in some areas.   

 

 
National Evidence 
 
A national discussion paper2 determined that 9,400 housing support units are required for 
working age adults (WAA) with Physical Disability (PD) in England in 2020, rising to 9,600 by 
2030 (based on ONS projections of population increase during that time period). 
 
Local Intelligence  
 
As part of modelling work around need and demand for ECH in Lincolnshire, the Public 
Health Intelligence Team (PHIT) reviewed national evidence to determine a provisional 
estimated number of supported housing units required in the county for different cohorts. 
Lincolnshire's population represents 1.2 per cent of the population of England; 116 units (for 
2020) is the 1.2 per cent of the total units estimated for the country. These demand 
estimates need to be reviewed in relation to Learning Disabilities and mental health and will 
be used to inform the emerging Specialist Adult Services Accommodation Strategy.  
 
PANSI data projects a 1.33 per cent reduction in the number of 18 to 64 year olds with a 
serious disability in Lincolnshire between 2020 and 2030. 
 
Based on these projections it appears there will be little increase in demand for supported 
accommodation for Working Age Adults, but a significant increased demand for people with 

                                                           
2 Projected Demand for Supported Housing in Great Britain 2015 to 2030, PSSRU Discussion Paper DP2931, 
LSE, March 2017, Raphael Wittenberg and Bo Hu 

Page 3636



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

9 
 

Learning Disabilities. The focus is on current supply and utilisation to help assess whether 
current supply is sufficient to meet current demand. 
 

Table 1 Provisional estimated units of supported 
housing using national ratios Lincolnshire3  

2020  2030  2018-
30%  

Older people population (65+)  182,482  221,067  21.1%  

Est. units of supported housing older people (65+)  7,431  8,963  20.6%  

Working age adults population (18-64)  431,183  427,428  -0.9%  

Learning disability  497  737  48.2%  

Mental health problems  381  384  0.9%  

Physical disability or sensory impairment  116  118  1.8%  

Single homeless people  387  384  -0.8%  

Other working age clients  665  661  -0.5%  

Est. units of supported housing adults (18-64)  2,046  2,285  11.7%  

Sum Total units of supported housing  9,477  11,248  18.7% 

 
Source: Public Health Intelligence Team, 2019 

 
The same authorities commissioned further research in 2019 (Housing LIN report, 2019) 
which identified that many older people are keen to move, and many of those who are 
undecided will consider other available options.  Supporting people to move is likely to 
release 3 and 4 bedroom homes into the general housing stock, relieving some of the overall 
pressure on demand for housing. 

 
 
Source: Housing Learning and Improvement Network, August 2019 

 
Housing Quality and Environment: 
 
There are opportunities to improve the quality of homes and the environment around them in 
both new build developments and regeneration areas. Planning and infrastructure matters in 
relation to the growth agenda and bringing forward housing delivery are overseen by the 
Housing Infrastructure Group (HIG) and so the Housing and Health and Care Delivery Group 
(HHCDG) will work closely with HIG to achieve common objectives. 
 

                                                           
3 Rates derived from: Projected Demand for Supported Housing in Great Britain 2015 to 2030, PSSRU 
Discussion Paper DP2931, LSE, March 2017, Raphael Wittenberg and Bo Hu  
Population projection 2016 based (ONS) 

Page 3737



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

10 
 

Proposals to reform the national Planning system emphasise design guides. These are 
particularly important where conversion of redundant commercial units into housing may be 
permitted development rights rather than requiring planning permission and the 
requirements that this might bring. 
 
There are a number of things to take into account: 

 Location - connected to community, work and services. 

 Visual impact, layout and landscaping. 

 Open space. 

 Routes and movement. 

 Size and layout of the home and accessibility within the home – able to provide for all 
the household's requirements. 

 Noise, light, services and adaptability. 

 Accessibility within the home. 

 Sustainability - the design should include standards on insulation, glazing, fuel 
efficiency to reduce fuel poverty, support climate change and our aspirations around 
decarbonisation and the move to net zero carbon emissions. 

 External environment.  
 
Housing design needs to take account of how people want to use their home and its 
surroundings. The home needs to remain affordable to the resident and provide a stable and 
secure base, but the layout of streets, the level of footfall, type of lighting, access to green 
space, etc. all matter and may differ in urban and rural locations. Smart homes which use 
new technologies in their build and a support how people live are also important particularly 
for those in caring roles and for those living with disabilities and long term conditions. 
Building to higher standards may have some impact on build costs and so it will be ensured 
that development viability and deliverability is not compromised. Mechanisms for ensuring 
housing is built to this standard will need to be embedded in to development management 
processes at district council level. 
 
There are a number of existing best practice guides around developments and integrating 
with existing settlements that can influence the development of a Lincolnshire Design Guide 
for health and wellbeing: 
 

1. Building for a Healthy Life (formerly Building for Life 12) 
2. Putting Health into Place – the guidance resulting from the NHS Healthy New Towns 

Programme. 
 
Local design codes will need to avoid simply repeating the commitments in guides such as 
these and instead should offer practical standards to drive improvements in development 
quality across the county. 
 
There is a strong emphasis on the need for Green and Blue Infrastructure with the benefits 
of: 

 Improving people’s mental and physical health 

 Encouraging physical activity 

 Reducing air pollution, if carefully designed 

 Protecting against climate change; for instance, by helping to reduce flood risk, 
cooling urban areas during heat waves, storing carbon, or preventing soil erosion 

 Increasing biodiversity 

 Growing food locally 

 Attracting investment 

 Improving the soundscape 

Page 3838



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

11 
 

There are changes to national policies under way maintaining a theme on quality, 
environmental housing standards (Future Homes Standard) and improving accessibility 
(disability) standards within the home. The outcome of these emerging policies and 
regulations will be reflected in the Lincolnshire Design Guide. 
 
Housing Standards: Safe and Warm Housing 
 
Whilst new homes and specialist accommodation is needed to house working age adults 
with a serious disability and a growing and ageing population, most people live in and will 
continue to live in existing housing. A significant amount of existing private sector housing is 
in poor condition (e.g. hazards, cold homes), overcrowded or under-occupied which impacts 
on the physical and mental wellbeing of its occupants.  
 
The Health Foundation produced a report entitled How Does Housing Influence Our Health? 
in 2017 which states that:   
“….., 1 in 5 dwellings in England do not meet the Decent Homes standard, and a third of 
these are in the private rental sector, the fastest growing segment of the UK housing market. 
There is also unequal distribution of good quality housing. Those who are elderly or young, 
isolated, or without a support network, and adults with disabilities are more likely to be 
affected. It’s not surprising that young people are concerned about this when they spend 
nearly a quarter of their income on housing – a theme that they are exploring in their Young 
people’s future health inquiry.   
 
Social housing is in general much better but there are particular issues in the private rented 
sector. However, greater numbers of people are living in owner occupied homes, including 
many homes which contain serious hazards. Older people in particular can have a significant 
amount of equity in their home but be 'cash poor' and less able to afford appropriate levels of 
heating, repairs and maintenance as their income is more limited. Where people live in 
private rented accommodation, landlords may only maintain properties to the minimum 
standard required in law. Cold homes and those which are excessively hot pose risks to 
health for individuals resulting in unplanned hospital admissions and other service 
pressures. 
 

Housing tenures in Lincolnshire 

(Source: BRE Housing Stock Modelling report, 2017) 

Number of Dwellings 

Private Sector Stock Social TOTAL 

Owner Occupied Private Rented 

220,233 71,952 45,985 338,170 

Age profile of private sector housing stock in Lincolnshire 

(Source: CPC Housing Condition Survey report, 2009) 

Pre 1919 1919-44 1945-64 1965-80 1981-90 Post 1990 

55,081 19,360 40,356 62,171 34,903 80,314 

 
The majority of households in Lincolnshire are owner occupiers but in recent years the 
proportion of private rented sector homes has grown to exceed those in the social housing 

Page 3939

https://www.health.org.uk/infographic/how-does-housing-influence-our-health?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIrKXunv-46wIVWODtCh3_jACREAAYASAAEgK2VPD_BwE
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F595785%2F2015-16_EHS_Headline_Report.pdf&data=02%7C01%7CSean.Johnson%40lincolnshire.gov.uk%7C1de9af2861634c50970608d84a7da16c%7Cb4e05b92f8ce46b59b2499ba5c11e5e9%7C0%7C0%7C637341250717848532&sdata=jCMgPD7JeVNBWEgQ0F3azn04FRMEFC%2B340Q16OockiM%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.resolutionfoundation.org%2Fpublications%2Fhome-affront-housing-across-the-generations%2F&data=02%7C01%7CSean.Johnson%40lincolnshire.gov.uk%7C1de9af2861634c50970608d84a7da16c%7Cb4e05b92f8ce46b59b2499ba5c11e5e9%7C0%7C0%7C637341250717858533&sdata=b1X%2B%2BAFTSF8YfaYQ12s3KGx37kRx4oyUqMvF5%2FTi6mo%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.resolutionfoundation.org%2Fpublications%2Fhome-affront-housing-across-the-generations%2F&data=02%7C01%7CSean.Johnson%40lincolnshire.gov.uk%7C1de9af2861634c50970608d84a7da16c%7Cb4e05b92f8ce46b59b2499ba5c11e5e9%7C0%7C0%7C637341250717858533&sdata=b1X%2B%2BAFTSF8YfaYQ12s3KGx37kRx4oyUqMvF5%2FTi6mo%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.health.org.uk%2Fcollection%2Fyoung-people%25E2%2580%2599s-inquiry&data=02%7C01%7CSean.Johnson%40lincolnshire.gov.uk%7C1de9af2861634c50970608d84a7da16c%7Cb4e05b92f8ce46b59b2499ba5c11e5e9%7C0%7C0%7C637341250717858533&sdata=VCmHwsU8WBE3a3dIDzlYp8ssq8a9IQtQzPwMb5VPwxo%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.health.org.uk%2Fcollection%2Fyoung-people%25E2%2580%2599s-inquiry&data=02%7C01%7CSean.Johnson%40lincolnshire.gov.uk%7C1de9af2861634c50970608d84a7da16c%7Cb4e05b92f8ce46b59b2499ba5c11e5e9%7C0%7C0%7C637341250717858533&sdata=VCmHwsU8WBE3a3dIDzlYp8ssq8a9IQtQzPwMb5VPwxo%3D&reserved=0


Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

12 
 

sector. The private rented accommodation in areas of deprivation tends to the poorer end of 
the market but still has challenges around maintenance and adaptation. 
 

Private sector housing conditions in Lincolnshire 

(Source: BRE Housing Stock Modelling report, 2017) 

 
Serious hazards                   18% 

 Owner occupied       17% 

 Private rented           19% 
 
Falls hazards                          9% 
 
Dwellings in disrepair           4% 
(Decent Homes Standard) 
 

 

 

 

 
Excess Cold                           9% 

 
Fuel Poverty                         10% 
 

 Owner occupied         8% 

 Private rented           15% 
 
Low-income households     17% 

 
13% of owner occupiers in the county are estimated to be living on a low income and could 
need financial help with repairs and improvements or relocating (Source: BRE Housing 
Stock Modelling report, 2017). 
 
Cost effectiveness 
 
In addition to ensuring that we meet locally emerging need successfully, there are additional 
benefits from developing and linking housing and health together that relate to value for 
money at local and national level.  
 
There is growing interest in how investment in housing can lead to benefits in health and 
potentially lead to cost savings in other service areas. Where appropriately designed 
housing, both in general and for specific needs, helps meet health and care needs there is a 
business case to be made. A number of reviews have gathered and assessed the evidence 
of the cost effectiveness of housing interventions to improve health. 
 
Some examples of where savings can be achieved are: 

1. Having to place people with mental health needs out of the county in inpatient beds is 
a huge cost (around £1,000 per day). Even bringing people back in to the county on 
to an acute mental health ward or a residential placement costs in excess of £300 
per day. Whilst a patient is taking up a bed when ready for discharge the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) may have to commission out of area for someone else, 
so supported housing accommodation versus an inpatient bed is important. 

Page 4040



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

13 
 

2. The financial benefits of Extra Care Housing (ECH) are predicated on the basis that 
the costs of providing care within an ECH setting are materially lower than in 
traditional residential and nursing settings. The expected cost for older people ranged 
from £502 to £553 per week in 2019/20, with the average annual residential care cost 
estimated to be a little over £27,500 per annum.  Initial analysis suggests the gross 
cost of providing care within an ECH setting at 20 hours per week would be £309 per 
week, with an annual cost of £16,111. This represents a gross saving of £11,445 per 
annum or 41.5%; which reduces to £9,118 (33%) once the impact of income loss is 
taken into consideration as the average placement income within a residential setting 
is higher than service user contributions derived from an ECH setting. 

3. Health impact assessments quantifying the health-cost benefits of improvements to 
existing poor condition housing improvements can provide local authorities with the 
information they need to drive up public health standards and reduce health costs. 
They identify the most beneficial and cost effective improvements to housing. 
Research on quantifying the health-cost benefits of improving homes has provided a 
very strong case for this approach.  For example, a BRE Trust report on the cost of 
poor housing highlights potential savings to the NHS in England of more than £1.4 
billion a year from dealing with the most pressing housing problems. Meanwhile the 
cost of poor housing to the wider society has been estimated at £18.6 billion a year 
(from this BRE report). 

  
We will continue to build up the case for investment in housing to reduce future costs 
elsewhere. This may require partners to think differently about how they use funds available 
to them and potentially lead to pooling of some budgets across organisations or transfer of 
budgets from one organisation to another.  
 
 

Understanding needs and opportunities - delivery objectives 
 
2.1 We will review the evidence base and develop analysis to maintain an up to date 
picture of demand for homes with care and support and preferred locations and 
clarify the priorities for future investment 
 
2.2 We will make a strong case for investment in housing to reduce health and care 
costs 
 
2.2 We will facilitate or influence appropriate design of new build housing to take 
account of how people want to live while maintaining viability 
 
2.3 We will improve our understanding of housing conditions in Lincolnshire, the 
impact on physical and mental health, and the potential cost of poor housing to 
health, care and society 
 
2.4 We will maximise the financial resources available to tackle poor housing 
standards and ensure they are effectively targeted  
 
2.5 We will support good landlords to increase the supply of quality, housing that is 
affordable made available to people with health and care needs. 
 
2.6 We will make best use of enforcement powers available across different 
organisations to target criminal landlords 

 

Page 4141



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

14 
 

3. Housing for people with care and support needs 

 

 
 
Increasing choice of housing that is affordable and accessible supports people's physical, 
mental and financial wellbeing, and avoids upheaval.  It reduces costs to the public purse 
arising from avoidable hospital admissions, delayed hospital discharge, and avoidable and 
permanent admission to care homes. People may need support to find to the right housing 
choice for their specific circumstances.  
 
Children and Young People 
 
The County Council and its partners have a statutory duty under The Children and Family 
Act 2017 to support Care Leavers to access safe and suitable accommodation up to the age 
of 21 and now through to 25, which requires the help of all partners to achieve this. District 
Councils share corporate parenting responsibilities, in supporting care leavers which can 
include certain exemptions in housing benefit, relative priority on housing waiting lists and 
council tax provisions under local flexibilities.  
 
Most children and young people live within their family network. Where they experience 
difficulties, they are supported through early help to stay with or return to live with their 
family.  The 'Future 4 Me' service works with those who are at greater risk and vulnerability 
to help provide stability for the longer term. Where a child or young person needs to make a 
planned move into independent accommodation, or support to find and sustain independent 
living arrangements, the County Council commissions Housing Related Support Services 
with 72 units of accommodation re-commissioned in 2020. Working closely with District 
Councils, it ensures that where they cannot be connected back to their home, they are 
housed appropriately by local housing authorities and supported by other relevant agencies.  
 
More children are growing up and going into adulthood with complex health conditions, and 
they and their families need more flexible, bespoke housing solutions. Equipment, home 
adaptations and potentially alternative housing may be needed to provide greater 
independence, whilst enabling on-going family support.   
 

Page 4242



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

15 
 

Working Age Adults 
 
A Specialist Adult Services Accommodation Strategy (for adults with learning disability, 
autism and/ or mental health needs) is under development to support the Lincolnshire 
Homes for Independence blueprint.  This will consider the need for Residential and Nursing 
Care as well as Supported Accommodation, Shared Lives Services and other 
accommodation for working age adults with complex needs. 
 
Four levels of independence are considered as follows: 

 Level One: Secure Accommodation and Mental Health Inpatient Care; 

 Level Two: High Complexity Residential and Community Supported Living; 

 Level Three: Residential Care and 24 Hour Community Supported Living;  

 Level Four: Independent Living - Including shared lives placements, own home 
ownership, rented accommodation or living with family and friends. 

 
We want to achieve a proportional move towards Level Four through a maximising 
independence approach. The lead commissioner for Specialist Adult Services will work 
closely with the Housing, Health and Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) in relation to access to 
the wider housing market for related service users. In particular Level Four is the key area to 
develop adequate housing options. 
 
The National Autism Self-Assessment Framework 2018 identified the importance of local 
housing strategies recognising the needs of people with autism. It also recommends the 
provision of autism awareness training for those who work in the housing sectors. 
 
The Transforming Care programme aims to improve the lives of children, young people and 
adults with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviours that challenge, 
including those with a mental health condition. The programme has three key aims: 

 To improve quality of care for people with a learning disability and/or autism 

 To improve quality of life for people with a learning disability and/or autism 

 To enhance community capacity, thereby reducing inappropriate hospital admissions 
and length of stay. 

 
It makes specific reference to the need to find appropriate accommodation for people with 
these needs. This is something that needs to be improved in Lincolnshire to avoid the need 
for out of county placements as hospital in-patients, which cost more for our services but 
more importantly disconnect people from their families, friends and community networks. 
 
Older Adults 
 
People are living longer but often in poorer health in older age. Many people want to live in 
their existing home, staying close to family, friends, social networks and familiar amenities. 
New technologies are developing to support people with increasing levels of need and there 
is a growing role for occupational therapy in conjunction with technology to support people to 
stay in their own homes as an alternative to long term care provision.   
 
Homeless People 
 
There was a general increase in the number of homeless applications received by district 
councils in the ten years up to 2017/18. Homelessness and rough sleeping have risen 
sharply nationally and locally in recent years and data has been gathered and collated 
differently since 2018/19. Lincolnshire's Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
identifies levels of need, statutory duties and opportunities for multi-agency working to 
prevent and relieve homelessness. 
 

Page 4343



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

16 
 

Homelessness assessments (2019-20) 

Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 

Number of initial assessments 3,972 

Total owed a prevention of relief duty 3,868 

Threatened with homelessness within 56 
days (prevention duty owned) 

2,002 

Homeless relief duty owed 1,866 

 
The Government's 'Everyone In' campaign to house all rough sleepers during the 
Coronavirus pandemic lockdown in 2020 was hugely successful. However, as the 
emergency funding has ceased and there is a probable rise in unemployment arising from 
the economic impact of the Coronavirus pandemic, there is the potential for family 
breakdowns, evictions from rented accommodation and repossessions where people fall 
behind with mortgage repayments - leading to people becoming at risk of being homeless, 
homeless or sleeping rough. Numbers of homeless applications and the situation leading to 
these is closely monitored. The pandemic demonstrated what can be achieved when 
agencies work together to address homelessness as a public health issue. 
 
We also need to reflect the needs of young homeless people, those who are chaotic, and 
those who misuse substances combined with mental health issues. Often viewed as 
underserving and unpopular, this cohort needs intensive support and access to 
accommodation.  
 
People Who Hoard 
 
People who hoard have a recognised disorder that puts themselves, their families and 
neighbours at increased risks.  Hoarders often have additional health and wellbeing needs 
and even face eviction from their home or formal action being taken against them. In 
Lincolnshire we have produced a multi-agency Hoarding Protocol to assist agencies to 
identify, advise and support those who need help with Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue hosting 
a Hoarding Advocate. Much has been achieved to help people in this situation declutter and 
get their homes back to a manageable state; however, more needs to be done to address 
their underlying issues and treat hoarding as a mental health issue. 
 
Domestic Abuse Victims 
 

Victims of domestic abuse can be men and women, 
older and young people, with adverse impacts on 
children. Safe homes and appropriate support are vital 
to support people to retain or regain their independence. 
Domestic Abuse Refuges are provided in Lincolnshire 
as a commissioned service and through the local 
voluntary sector to support some of those affected to 
secure safe accommodation and support near to home. 
Some people will go outside Lincolnshire to be safer at 
a distance from the perpetrator and others will take up 

places in refuges in Lincolnshire to get away from the area they are from. 
Different housing options must be available to victims of domestic abuse. Location and 
affordability are likely to be the deciding factors for general needs housing rather than its 
nature. Ensuring appropriate supply is, therefore, difficult but the Domestic Abuse Bill will 
when enacted require the County Council to form a partnership board and complete a needs 
assessment. 
 

Page 4444



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

17 
 

4,805 adults and children have been kept safe and supported through domestic abuse, 
thanks to organisations in Lincolnshire working together over the ten years up to 2018. 
District Councils can advise about housing, including offering emergency or temporary 
accommodation if people are made homeless and are vulnerable and in priority need as a 
result of domestic abuse or other reason. 
 
Carers 
 
Unpaid carers are crucial to enable people with care 
needs to maintain independent living and are 
recognised as a priority in their own right in the 
Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy alongside 
Housing. At the 2011 Census just short of 80,000 
people said they were providing unpaid care to 
someone. In 2018/19, 10,325 people caring for adults 
received support from the County Council. 
 
 
Housing services and housing related support need to recognise the specific needs of carers 
as well as those they care for and make appropriate provisions. This includes making best 
use of digital technology to reduce the burden of caring and enable working age carers to 
remain in employment. 
 
Armed Forces Personnel and Veterans 
 
The Armed Forces has long-standing links with Lincolnshire, through an extensive network 
of Air Force bases and a significant number of service personnel and veterans. The 
Lincolnshire Armed Forces Covenant commits agencies to working together to recognise 
and support them.  District Councils can use local flexibilities to support serving personnel 
and veterans recognising that their role involves frequent moves which may make it harder 
to secure settled accommodation.  Partners include the Royal British Legion and SSAFA: the 
Armed Forces Charity. 
 

Housing for people with care and support needs - delivery 
objectives 
 
3.1 We will facilitate quality, choice and diversity of housing for people with care and 
support needs 
 
3.2 We will achieve a proportional move towards maximising independence for 
working-age adults and older people needing care 
 
3.3 We will improve services to extend people's housing choices in preparation for 
later life 
 
3.4 We will address the underlying causes leading to homelessness whilst still 
providing appropriate support and housing for those who need it 
 
3.5 We will increase units of single person accommodation to house those who would 
otherwise be sleeping rough 
 
3.6 We will strengthen healthcare inclusion services for homeless people across the 
county  
 

Page 4545



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

18 
 

4. Helping people remain in their current home 

Given the choice, many people prefer to stay in their own homes as their needs change.  
Memories and personal attachment, familiarity with neighbours and local surroundings are 
hugely significant to people.  Staying at home and remaining connected can be an option 
with the help of equipment, digital technologies, home adaptations and personal support. 

Adult Care Services in the County Council are under increasing pressure but continue to 
deliver quality and essential services, including home care that enables people who are 
eligible to remain living independently for as long as possible. This provides in the region of 
62,000 visits each week to support people at home. In order to signpost people to wider 
services and tackle issues such as loneliness and social isolation, the County Council and 
the NHS has commissioned Connect 2 Support Lincolnshire as a library of information on 
support services that are available from both statutory organisations and the community and 
voluntary sector. 

Occupational Therapy Services are provided by the County Council and the NHS to work 
with people to identify barriers to independence in their homes, making recommendations to 
remove these and increase independence. 
 
County Council Occupational Therapists (OTs) work to enable children and adults with 
disabilities (mental and physical) and debilitating conditions such as Cerebral Palsy and 
Parkinson's Disease to carry out essential activities, with the aim of maintaining or improving 
a persons' independence at home. Occupation means any way in which people spend their 
time from personal care (washing, dressing, toileting) to productivity (paid or unpaid work, 
housework and education); to leisure (games, sports, hobbies and social activities). 
 
NHS Occupational Therapists based in Lincolnshire's hospitals and community health 
providers work within a similar ethos to community-based Occupational Therapists. They are 
building up their knowledge of housing and wider determinants of health through 
engagement with integrated neighbourhood working; however, the role is more focused on 
recovery and rehabilitation than longer term needs. 
 
Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service's 'Safe and Well checks' create clear referral 
pathways to identify, report, support and stabilise people's wellbeing, enabling them to 'stay 
put' or 'move on' as appropriate. These build on the long-standing success of the Home 
Safety Checks (HSC) that helped to protect thousands of people throughout the county from 
the risk of fire in their homes. Safe and Well Checks will still incorporate fire safety but also 
include advice to help an individual improve their health and wellbeing, with the ultimate goal 
to help people to stay safe in their own homes. Home visits include vital checks on smoke 
alarms, but also a frailty assessment and, given the significant number of cooking related 
incidents, fire fighters offer specific advice on cooking safely. 
 

  
 

Page 4646



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

19 
 

A new initiative to highlight people most at risk from fires in their homes and to support them 
to get help has been launched by Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. SHERMAN highlights 7 key 
factors that may make people at greater risk of having or being less likely to react to a fire. 
These are: 

 Smoking 

 Hoarding 

 Elderly people or those who live alone 

 Reduced mobility, hearing or visual impairments 

 Mental health issues 

 Alcohol misuse, drugs/medication dependence 

 Needing care or support 

 It aims to increase both the public and professionals’ awareness of the risk factors 
and encourage them to get in contact with the service through a Safe and Well 
check. 

 
The Wellbeing Service Wellbeing Lincs is commissioned by the County Council and 
delivered by the District Councils working in collaboration to support access to equipment, 
and minor adaptations on a fee-paying basis, alongside support to improve financial and 
social wellbeing. 
 

Wellbeing Lincs 
Number of referrals to the County Council Wellbeing Service in 2019/20 7,700 

People helped to access small aids (e.g. grab rails) in 2019/20  790 

Wellbeing Lincs case studies 

 

N has mental health issues and alcohol addiction and has been diagnosed with 
Schizophrenia. N needs prompting to manage his personal care and doesn't wash 
regularly. His home environment is not pleasant as N cannot manage to clean either 
himself or his home. Wellbeing Lincs provided a list of gardening services and 
cleaners, made a referral to the Carers team for N's mother and chased the District 
Council for fitting of rails. 
 
D had started to feel very isolated and need support to go out. D wanted to set up a 
funeral plan and was also having problems with her fuel supplier. Wellbeing Lincs 
completed an online form for a Blue Badge, registered D with Call Connect with a 
home pick up, contacted ASC to find out how much direct payment D has been given 
for how many hours a week social inclusion, phoned and liaised with a local funeral 
director then set up a home meeting for D and changed the tariff that D was on with 
her fuel provider. D is now more independent and socially active, has a funeral plan 
and the difference in the fuel tariff is helping with bills. 
 

 
In an emergency response to the Coronavirus pandemic in 2020 the District councils worked 
quickly and effectively with the County Council and the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum to 
reorganise the Wellbeing Service, supporting large numbers of people at greatest risk from 
Covid-19. Elements of these adaptations have been retained and built in to the service as 
business as usual. 
 
The Wellbeing Service includes a hospital in-reach element which now sits alongside two 
permanently funded Hospital Housing Link Workers. This helps ensure that housing issues 
are picked up early in discharge planning and can be addressed to help people get homes 
as soon as possible and avoid them staying in hospital longer than is necessary. 
  
 

Page 4747



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

20 
 

The Lincolnshire Community Equipment Service combines County Council and NHS 
resources to provide simple, often low cost equipment to allow people to remain independent 
at home.  Low cost interventions such as additional hand/grab rails, improved lighting, etc., 
help prevent falls and support people to remain independent.   
 

Lincolnshire Community Equipment Service 
 2018/19 2019/20 

Number of clients supported 55,359 56,916 

Number of items delivered 103,426 104,681 

Number of items collected 61,348 66,051 

Total cost £6,426,471 £ 5,922,987 
 

Telehealth provides opportunities for remote monitoring of health outcomes, reducing the 
need for travel to medical centres, providing greater peace of mind for individuals and carers 
and reducing the risk of unplanned emergency hospital admissions. 
 
Telecare and new forms of Assistive Technology 
support individuals to live independently at home and 
complement traditional care more cost effectively, 
offering better outcomes and increased satisfaction for 
people with long-term care needs. There are around 
4,500 people with Telecare in their homes costing 
£500,000. Devices such as 'Alexa' offer opportunities 
which need to be explored fully. 

 

Source: Housing Learning and  
Improvement Network, August 2019 

 
 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are provided by District Councils.  Mandatory DFGs 
fund essential home adaptations, giving disabled people better freedom of movement into 
and around their homes (e.g. stair lifts, ramped access) and providing access to essential 
facilities within the home (e.g. level access showers). Other support, including repairs, may 
be provided through discretionary housing assistance. Most District Councils have 
discretionary policies and a countywide Housing Assistance Policy is under development. 
 

Disabled Facilities Grants 
 2018/19 2019/20 

Number of grants completed 644 632 

Total DFG spend £4,325,644 £4,336,385 

Number of grants approved 160 269 

Value of DFGs approved £1,232,405 £1,327,356 

 
These services are all valuable but all operate independently, making it harder for individuals 
and those who support them to navigate the support available. A key objective of the 
programme of work to embed DFGs as part of a system-wide approach to keeping people 
independent in a home of their own is to integrate these to create a seamless, customer-
friendly, efficient and cost effective service with the person at its centre. This is being taken 
forward with the seven district councils working collaboratively and with the County Council 
and partners through a Moving Forward with DFGs group. 
 
 
 

Page 4848



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

21 
 

Lincs 4 Warmer Homes 
 
In order to address the issues of excess cold homes and fuel poverty the councils across 
Greater Lincolnshire have formed a partnership to connect residents with installers and 
funding to complete heating and insulation improvements in private sector homes. This is 
predominantly to support owner occupiers living on a low income and in a high energy cost 
home or who have a condition that makes them more susceptible to the cold. 
 
Overseen by the Greater Lincolnshire Energy Efficiency Network (GLEEN), Lincs 4 Warmer 
Homes (L4WH) has created a framework of installers to refer residents to access funding 
from the energy suppliers' Energy Company Obligation (ECO) scheme. Following a 
successful bid, Warm Homes Fund money is also available for first-time central heating 
installations for a limited time. Government has also introduced Green Homes Grants to help 
people with more costly improvements such as solid wall insulation and renewable heating 
systems. This is in part in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to re-stimulate the market 
and to prepare people for possible future lockdown(s) when they could be told to stay in a 
cold home. 
 
The partnership has the potential to do more and to implement the recommendations made 
to Health and Wellbeing Boards in National Institute for Clinical Health and Care Excellence 
(NICE) guidance NG6: Excess winter deaths and illness and the health risks associated with 
cold homes. 
 
Housing Related Support 
 
Where people are unable to secure or maintain accommodation, often due to a combination 
of poor mental health, substance or alcohol misuse, family breakdown, loss of income and 
debt, they may need additional support.  District Councils have statutory duties to prevent 
and relieve homelessness, but those people with more complex needs need effective multi-
agency approaches that combine suitable accommodation and support to enable them to 
achieve independence. 
 
Since being commissioned in 2015, housing related support services have supported over 
8,000 people to improve their health and wellbeing, and regain their independence by either 
sustaining or finding suitable accommodation. Housing Related Support Services (HRS) for 
young people and for adults, and Domestic Abuse Refuges, have been re-commissioned by 
the County Council to start in October 2020 with a budget of £2 million; with the HRS service 
estimated to help an estimated 1,167 adults per annum.  
 

Helping people remain in their current home - delivery objectives 
 
4.1 We will ensure services to support people to remain living in their current home 
complement each other as a system-wide approach 
 
4.2 We will develop a seamless, customer-friendly 'one-stop shop' to deliver cost 
effective services with the person at the centre 
 
4.3 We will make best use of new digital technologies to enable homes for life 
 

  

Page 4949



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

22 
 

5. Helping people find and move to a suitable home 
 
Lincolnshire Homes for Independence is a call to action providing a narrative and a 
description of how increasing the amount of good quality housing that is affordable and 
accessible for residents that wish to move can reduce the need for the services referenced 
in the previous section. More specialist homes with care and support need to be available for 
where the general housing market does not meet peoples' needs. Older people in particular 
are clear about what they wish to achieve: 
 

 

 

     
 
Source: Housing Learning and Improvement Network, August 2019 

 

Page 5050



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

23 
 

To enable people to plan ahead with greater choice and insight at the right time for them, it is 
essential that there is a range of homes across different tenures available in the right 
locations to meet needs. Those who are currently owner occupiers might wish to remain in 
owner occupation or free up some capital through shared ownership; others might want to 
rent in the private or social housing sectors. 
 
Different levels of housing with care are needed. Evidence to support the need for 
accessible homes will be strengthened as a basis for requiring developers to build greater 
proportions of new build housing to the higher levels of accessibility in the building 
regulations and for us to encourage, support and fund both Registered Providers and private 
developers to go further. There is also scope to work with developers on bespoke schemes 
for people with complex needs where existing homes cannot be easily adapted. 
 
More emphasis will be placed on providing people with housing options information so they 
can decide to either remain living where they are now or move. Relocating can be more 
appropriate than expensive adaptations to current homes, especially where other factors 
make the home unsuitable (e.g. under-occupation, poor location (isolated), unmanageable). 
 
Where people do come to require a higher level of care and support, every effort will be 
taken to avoid this coming in the form of residential or nursing care homes.  
 

       
Finding a new home in later life is seen as a progression, a road map with the aim of 
accessing residential and nursing care only as a last resort (not losing sight of the fact that 
sufficient provision of this must be available). 
 
But needing a home with some care and support provided is not all about later life. Care and 
Extra Care can be required by people of all ages who could be living independently. Multi-
generational developments where young and old can live alongside each other, receiving 
the support and care they need whilst being of mutual support and company to each other 
should be considered. We particularly want to secure the provision of homes that encourage 
and facilitate people being treated as individuals and care being personalised to their 
particular requirements and wishes. Where possible, we want to see housing with support 
designed to be adaptable to change and allowed to evolve as opposed to being categorised. 
It should be both reactive and responsive to the assessed needs and demands of those who 
live there with the support of the local community. 
 

Page 5151



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

24 
 

One standard used by LACE Housing, a Registered Provider that specialises in housing for 
older people, has four levels of supported housing that provides a supported environment for 
those wishing to retain / regain independence within a community / environment in which 
they are familiar: 

 Level 4 – Extra Care Housing 

 Level 3 – Extra Care Lite 

 Level 2 – Specialist older peoples' housing 

 Level 1 – Retirement plus older peoples' housing 
 
Extra Care Housing 
 
There is some excellent housing for people with a range of needs but not enough for 
everyone to have a full range of choice that is affordable to them.  The County Council's 
Extra Care programme, working with District Councils, Registered Providers, developers and 
communities, seeks to address the shortage of provision where demand is high, where the 
market is less active and where there is scope to meet the needs of adult care service users 
more effectively.  Mainly supporting older people, this will also support working age adults, 
creating mixed, inclusive communities wherever possible.  The programme aims to increase 
capacity in the areas of highest need in the county and encourage further development.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In a large rural county, with dispersed populations, mixed accommodation which builds 
around and enhances natural communities is the preferred model.  
 
We believe that all such new accommodation should be: 
 

 Built well and maintained to high quality standards 

 Affordable and economical throughout its lifetime 

 Designed for all age living, flexible and able to adapt to meet future needs  

 Designed to promote social connectedness, wellbeing and community activity 

 Close to or will incorporate open space 

 In easy reach of amenities without the need for extensive travel 

 Sensitive to the scale and diversity of Lincolnshire's communities 

 Marketed locally 

 Co-produced from design through to day-to-day management wherever possible with the 
people who will be living there. 

 

Page 5252

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=8sI9NGJW&id=D1DD77FDEEFA5E608E45652DD986AA2753938791&thid=OIP.8sI9NGJWSV3nNvuk3IWcFgHaE7&mediaurl=https://www.cumbriacrack.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Extra-care-housing.jpg&exph=466&expw=700&q=extra+care+housing&simid=607997360578562555&selectedIndex=0


Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

25 
 

Helping people move to a suitable home - delivery objectives 
 
5.1 We will influence delivery of new-build housing to provide greater choice of 
homes with care and support across all tenures 
 
5.2 We will support people with care and support needs to access social and private 
rented homes 
 
5.3 We will provide more extra care housing of different levels to meet demand 
 

 

  

Page 5353



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

26 
 

6. What's next working together on the vision? 

The County Council has a legal duty to provide children's and adult social care services.  
The seven district councils are the local housing and planning authorities responsible for 
developing and implementing Local Plans and securing new housing. Others including 
developers, Register Providers (Housing Associations), public bodies (e.g. NHS (linking in to 
the Transforming Care programme and reducing mental health patients using out of county 
in-patient facilities), DWP) and charities have a key role to play in delivering more Homes for 
Independence and integrating support services to promote and sustain independence.  
 
The Housing, Health and Care Delivery Group (HHCDG) adopted a memorandum of 
understanding (MOU) to support joint action in Lincolnshire on improving health and 
wellbeing through the home.  Mirroring the national MOU, this underpins joint working to 
deliver better housing outcomes, including achieving greater choice and independence, for 
Lincolnshire's residents. The Lincolnshire Homes for Independence is the blueprint for 
HHCDG partners which builds on the commitment in the MOU to develop collaborative 
actions and achieve the objectives set out in it. 
 
By understanding each other's responsibilities and working better together, we will provide 
greater choice and help people to be better prepared, make better informed, longer term 
plans be meet housing and support needs. We have mapped the Housing and Planning 
Groups (multi-agency partnerships) that have a role to play in an organogram to support 
better integrated working across the county and maximise the efforts of all partners to deliver 
homes for independence. 
 
Programmes of work that contribute to the homes for independence agenda are delivered 
through a Delivery Plan supporting the HHCDG to oversee the Housing priority in the 
Lincolnshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The plan sets out the direct actions the 
HHCDG will take to achieve outcomes under each of the objectives outlined throughout this 
document. It also identifies complementary activity which is managed elsewhere but 
indirectly supports the delivery of homes for independence. The plan will be reviewed and 
updated annually. 
 
Meeting the housing needs for the whole community is complex as it involves multiple 
organisations. But, by working better together under the direction of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) on a range of programmes and activities around this the agenda, 
we can make a difference. 
 
The HHCDG will provide an annual progress report to the HWB. Previous reports can be 
found here: 
Housing Priority Report to the Housing Health & Care Delivery Group 
September 2019 

Much has been achieved already by organisations in Lincolnshire working more closely 
together to meet the wider needs of the whole community, but also through people's passion 
to develop healthy communities and their willingness to be innovative, embracing new 
technologies. Decent, housing that is affordable has reduced overcrowding, accidents and 
disease, improved people's mental and physical health, and enabled the development of 
welcoming and safe communities. 

There is more to do. We are equally ambitious, passionate and innovative as we work 
together to achieve our vision for people to live independently, stay connected and have 
greater choice in where and how they live. 

Page 5454



Draft blueprint - Lincolnshire Homes for Independence  

27 
 

Glossary 
 

Bibliography 

Page 5555



This page is intentionally left blank

56



Lincolnshire Homes for Independence    
Housing Health and Care Delivery Group - Delivery Plan for 2020-22 
 

Our vision is for people to live independently, stay connected and have greater choice in where and how they live. 

The right home environment is essential to health and wellbeing, throughout life. Timely and appropriate support services enable 

people to live at home safely and independently. We are committed to working together, across local government, housing, health, 

care, and voluntary and community sectors to understand and respond to current and future needs in Lincolnshire." 

This Delivery Plan has a number of collaborative actions that are supported by each organisation aligned to the 'Lincolnshire 

Homes for Independence' blueprint delivery objectives. In order to avoid duplication of efforts and ensure a strategic systems 

approach this Delivery Plan captures tasks from a range of work streams, including that of the Centre for Ageing Better. 

 

ID Delivery objective How will this be achieved? Completion 
Date  

Responsible Group 
and Lead  

Update 

Understanding needs and opportunities 

2.1 We will review the 
evidence base and 
develop analysis to 
maintain an up to date 
picture of demand for 
homes with care and 
support and preferred 
locations and clarify the 
priorities for future 
investment 

Recruit Housing Analyst dedicated role to 
link data to housing issues, linked to or 
based alongside Public Health Intelligence 
Team, also to work across the CCG 

   

 JSNA - Re-schedule topic review/ update    

  
 
 

   

     

2.2 We will make a strong 
case for investment in 
housing to reduce health 
and care costs 

 
 

   

     

2.3 We will facilitate or 
influence appropriate 
design of new build 
housing to take account 

Enabling relationships 
- Homes England 
- Housing Infrastructure Group (HIG) 
Link to Housing Infrastructure Group (HIG) 

   

P
age 57

57

A
ppendix 2



Lincolnshire Homes for Independence    
Housing Health and Care Delivery Group - Delivery Plan for 2020-22 
 

of how people want to live 
while maintaining viability 

Action Plan. HIG remit covers new builds & 
need a link between HIG and HHCDG. 

    

2.4 We will improve our 
understanding of housing 
conditions in Lincolnshire, 
the impact on physical 
and mental health, and 
the potential cost of poor 
housing to health, care 
and society 

 
 
 

   

  
 
 

   

     

2.5 We will maximise the 
financial resources 
available to tackle poor 
housing standards and 
ensure they are 
effectively targeted 

Health issues caused by poor housing- SJ 
has met with Jacqui Bunce to talk about 
how to do this and to measure the impact 
(e.g. less medication, or GP visits) 

   

     

2.6 We will make best use of 
enforcement powers 
available across different 
organisations to target 
criminal landlords 

 
 
 

   

     

Housing for people with care and support needs 

3.1 We will facilitate quality, 
choice and diversity of 
housing for people with 
care and support needs 

    

3.2 We will achieve a 
proportional move 
towards maximising 
independence for 
working-age adults and 
older people needing care 

   
 

 

     

P
age 58

58



Lincolnshire Homes for Independence    
Housing Health and Care Delivery Group - Delivery Plan for 2020-22 
 

3.3 We will improve services 
to extend people's 
housing choices in 
preparation for later life 

    

3.4 We will address the 
underlying causes leading 
to homelessness whilst 
still providing appropriate 
support and housing for 
those who need it 

Rough Sleeping & Homelessness   
 
 
 

   

3.5 We will increase units of 
single person 
accommodation to house 
those who would 
otherwise be sleeping 
rough 

    

3.6 We will strengthen 
healthcare inclusion 
services for homeless 
people across the county 

 Support services for vulnerable people 
(early intervention, young people, 
homelessness, care leavers, drugs and 
alcohol) 

 Continue & embed integrated NHS & 
mental health support following Covid 
Everyone In 

   

Helping people remain in their current home 

4.1 We will ensure services to 
support people to remain 
living in their current 
home complement each 
other as a system-wide 
approach 

 
 
 

   

    

4.2 We will develop a 
seamless, customer-
friendly 'one-stop shop' to 

 DFG post recruitment to start once 
recruitment restrictions are lifted. 

 DFG- DFG and equipment budgets- 

   

P
age 59

59



Lincolnshire Homes for Independence    
Housing Health and Care Delivery Group - Delivery Plan for 2020-22 
 

deliver cost effective 
services with the person 
at the centre 

pooled budgets to work better together 
and look at use of digital technology 

 Centre for Ageing Better support to re-
design & evaluate impacts of new 
integrated service 

4.3 We will make best use of 
new digital technologies 
to enable homes for life 

    

Ambulance Service pilot to pick up on 
housing conditions- possible pilot of hand 
held devices to record  housing conditions. 
Could form part of the Housing MOT. A 
mechanism for self-reporting to be 
developed. 

   

Helping people find and move to a new, suitable home 

5.1 We will influence delivery 
of new-build housing to 
provide greater choice of 
homes with care and 
support across all tenures 

 Greater Homes England - use options 
from Covid recovery to develop social 
housing with care- through one public 
estate - land to build on – Homes 
England staff to research best practice 
– design and build proposal 

 Hospital discharge / avoidance 

 Improve housing/hospital interface- 
focused on hospital avoidance & 
discharge  

   

5.2 We will support people 
with care and support 
needs to access social 
and private rented homes 

 
 

   

     

5.3 We will provide more 
extra care housing of 
different levels to meet 
demand 

    

 

P
age 60

60



 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 March 2021 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 
March 2022 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 
March 2022. 
 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406120 

Email: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Shelley Thirkell, Acting Principal Democratic Officer 4 March 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 8 March 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 8 March 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

61

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to 

Council or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on 

the Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward 

Plan. The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council 

meetings due to be held within the plan period. 

1.4 The Forward Plan for 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

62



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 

 
 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise. 

63

A
ppendix 1



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Rectory Farm - Planning Brief - Key Decision 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in 
respect to Rectory Farm 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Void Policy - Key Decision 

The policy details South Kesteven District 
Councils approach to managing void 
properties 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final - Key Decision 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Head of Planning 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: jeff.upton@southkesteven.gov.uk  

Fire Safety Management Plan - Key Decision 

The Fire Safety Management Plan (FSMP) 
is to provide guidance to ensure South 
Kesteven District Council complies with its 
statutory fire safety obligations in relation to 
specific domestic properties. 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve the document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

64



Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Complaints Policy - Key Decision 

A Housing Customer Feedback Policy, 
which sets out how the Council will manage 
complaints, compliments and comments. 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Senior Housing and Policy Strategy Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 10 44 
E-mail: celia.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings - Key Decision 

To award a contract for Improvement works 
to HRA properties, including conversion 
and structural works 
 

11 May 
2021 
 

To approve the award of 
contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Housing Services 
Tel: 01476 40 62 51 
E-mail: helen.clarke@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposals for Deepings Leisure Centre Development - presentation of feasibility work including options explored and operational 
business plans - Key Decision 

To agree the facility mix and associated 
capital envelope of the development to be 
taken forward to the next stage 
 

Jun 2021 
 

To approve proposals 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth 
and Leisure (Councillor Barry Dobson) 
 
Head of Leisure 
Tel: 01476 40 62 39 
E-mail: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

Nov 2021 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

65



Summary Date Action Contact 

Council Tax Base 2022/23 - Budget 

To determine the Council Tax base to form 
the basis of the 2022/23 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council  
 

Dec 2021 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
base 2022/23 which will form 
the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Draft Budget Proposals for 2022/23 - Budget 

To consider draft budget proposals for 
2022/23 
 

Dec 2021 
 

To agree draft budget 
proposals for 2022/23 for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation 
 

Future date 
to be 
confirmed 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Head of Planning, Jeff Upton, Interim 
Head of Planning 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
E-mail: jeff.upton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

66



Document is Restricted

67

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

73

Appendix 1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

75

Appendix 2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

79

Appendix 3
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

89

Appendix 4
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Procurement of Improvement Works to HRA Properties
	Appendix 1 - Exempt

	5 Procurement of Electrical Works
	Appendix 1 - EXEMPT

	6 Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint
	Appendix 1
	6b Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint
	6b_Lincolnshire Homes for Independence 071020 V0.17_Appendix A


	Appendix 2
	6b Lincolnshire Homes for Independence Blueprint
	6b_Homes for Independence _Appendix B



	10 Cabinet Forward Plan 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2022
	Appendix 1

	11 Acquisition of Land in South Kesteven
	Appendix 1 - EXEMPT
	Appendix 2 - EXEMPT
	Appendix 3 - EXEMPT
	Appendix 4 - EXEMPT


